I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves an intersection collision. Plaintiff Guy

Wuthrich was the favored driver, and Defendant Christa Gilland was the

disfavored driver who entered the intersection from a street controlled by a

stop sign. Because of an overgrown wall of blackberries to Ms. Gilland's

left, she did not see Mr. Wutbrich's motorcycle approaching and pulled

out directly in front ofhim, causing a collision between the two vehicles.

Mr. Wuthrich sued Ms. Gilland, as well as King County for failing

to maintain the intersection in a reasonably safe condition. In particular,

Plaintiff contends that the County breached its duty to provide a

reasonably safe road by failing to maintain vegetation at the intersection,

allowing it to grow to the point that it obstructed Ms. Gilland's view of

approaching traffic. The trial court ruled that King County only had a

duty to design and maintain roads in a reasonably safe condition for

prudent drivers, and that because Ms. Gilland was negligent, the County

could not be at fault. Because the trial court relied on a rule of law that

had been directly overruled by the Supreme Court in Keller v. City of

Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002), the trial court's order

granting summary judgment to Defendant King County should be

reversed. As discussed below, there are questions of fact for a jury to

decide as to whether the intersection was unsafe due to the County's

failure to correct the sight obstruction caused by overgrown vegetation and

a utility pole.
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In addition, the trial court denied Plaintiff's motion for partial

summary judgment to establish that the owner of the land where the

overgrown vegetation was located had a duty to maintain its property in

such a manner that conditions on the land did not create hazards for

motorists using the abutting roads. In denying the motion, the trial court

again relied on an erroneous understanding of the law. The trial court's

ruling on this motion is the subject of a motion for discretionary review.

The trial court also denied Plaintiff's motion for partial summary

judgment to strike the affirmative defense of contributory fault, despite the

fact that the Defendants failed to show that Mr. Wuthrich, as the favored

driver who was simply traveling straight ahead and within the speed limit,

had adequate time to react to Ms. Gilland's sudden violation of his right of

way and avoid the crash she caused. The trial court's ruling on this

motion is also the subject of a motion for discretionary review.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in entering the following orders:
1. Order Granting King County's Motion for Summary

Judgment (CP 1279 - 1281); and

2. Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration of
Order Granting King County's Motion for Summary
Judgment (CP 1442 - 1444).
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III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. ISSUE: Did the trial court err in granting Defendant
King County's motion for summary judgment on the
basis of language in Ruff v. King County that was
overruled by the Supreme Court in Keller v. City of
Spokane?

ANSWER: Yes. The trial court granted Defendant King

County'smotion for summary judgment on the basis of language in Ruffv.

King County, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995), to the effect that, in

designing and maintaining roads, governmental entities are entitled to

presume that all drivers will be reasonably prudent. The trial court

reasoned that Defendant King County could not be liable because

Defendant Gilland was not reasonably prudent. In Keller v. City of

Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002), the Supreme Court held

that a governmental entity has a duty to provide a reasonably safe road,

regardless of whether drivers involved in a collision were also negligent.

A governmental entity's negligence in failing to provide reasonably safe

roads can combine with a driver's negligence to cause a collision.

Because the trial court relied on language in Ruff that was overruled in

Keller, the trial court erred, and its summary judgment in favor of

Defendant King County should be reversed.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The collision

On June 20, 2008, at approximately 5:15 p.m., Plaintiff Guy

Wuthrich was operating a Harley Davidson motorcycle southbound on

Avondale Road in King County, approaching an intersection at 159
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Street. He was traveling at 35 mph, 5 mph under the speed limit.

Defendant Christa Gilland, an off -duty Kirkland Police Officer,

approached the intersection traveling in an easterly direction on 159

Street, which is controlled by a stop sign and a stop line, as shown in the

photograph below.

CP 361.

Ms. Gilland testified that she stopped her car at the stop line,

looked both ways ( south and north), did not see Mr. Wuthrich's

motorcycle approaching, and started her left turn onto Avondale Road.

1

CP 1544 (Wuthrich Dep. at 8).

2 As a police officer, Ms. Gilland has specialized training regarding driving, and
she applies defensive driving principles. CP 1560 (Gilland Dep. at 30 -31).
3 The terms "stop line ", "limit line" and "stop bar" mean the same thing and are
used interchangeably by traffic engineers, and will be so -used in this Brief.
4 CP 1564, 1581, 1583 (Gilland Dep. at 45 -46, 114 -116, 122).
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This put her directly and suddenly in the path of Mr. Wuthrich's

southbound motorcycle, causing a collision between the vehicles.

Mr. Wuthrich sustained multiple, severe injuries in the collision.

It is uncontested that:

1. Mr. Wuthrich was traveling straight ahead on Avondale
and within the speed limit as he approached the

intersection.

2. Mr. Wuthrich had the right -of -way; 159 Street, where Ms.
Gilland was stopped, was controlled by a stop sign.

3. As Mr. Wuthrich was about to enter the intersection, Ms.
Gilland began her left turn directly into the path of Mr.
Wuthrich'smotorcycle, whereupon the vehicles collided.

4. According to Ms. Gilland, she was unable to see Mr.
Wuthrich's approaching vehicle because of overgrown
vegetation on her left.

B. Ms. Gilland's ability to see southbound traffic on
Avondale was impeded by sight obstructions at the
intersection.

The stop line at 159 Street is approximately 15 feet back from the

extension of the fog line. CP 473. Due to a wall of overgrown blackberry

bushes, the available sight distance for a vehicle stopped at the stop line

was less than a third of the sight distance that Defendant King County

5 CP 1564, 1581, 1583 (Gilland Dep, at 45 -46, 114 -116, 122).
6 CP 1544 (Wuthrich Dep. at 8); CP 1515, 1525 (Olson Dep. at 47; 87 -88).

CP 1561, 1565 (Gilland Dep. at 33, 50 -51).

8 CP 1564 (Gilland Dep. at 46 -47).
9 CP 1565 (Gilland Dep. at 50 -51).
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concedes is required. CP 461 (there was only 191 feet of sight distance

for a vehicle stopped at the stop line); CP 167 ( 685 feet of sight distance is

required for a 40 -mph road).

King County Detective James Leach took a recorded statement

from Ms. Gilland a few hours after the collision:

I was stopped at the intersection of Avondale and NE 159
at the stop line looking for traffic. I sat there for quite a
while, I waited until it was really wide open. And I pulled
out to make a left turn onto Avondale and when I got
probably half way through the lane closest to me there was
a motorcyclist in front ofme and I hit him.

CP 432 (emphasis added).

Ms. Gilland's statement that she stopped at the stop line is

supported by the testimony of the only witnesses to the collision — Ms.

Gilland and Mr. Wuthrich — that they did not see each other until an

instant before the collision. Mr. Wuthrich testified that he was driving

along and "saw a bumper real close, it was coming fast." CP 394; CP 396

he had less than a second to react after he saw Gilland's car). Ms.

Gilland testified that the motorcycle appeared in front of her just as she

started her left turn onto Avondale. CP 402.

A rule of accident reconstruction is that a vehicle accelerating from

a stopped position moves very little — only five feet -- in the first two

seconds; thus, for Ms. Gilland's vehicle to have been "coining fast," as

Mr. Wuthrich testified, she had to be far enough back from the intersection

that is, at the stop line — when she began accelerating to pick up speed
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by the time she entered the intersection. 
10

Accident reconstruction expert

Paul Olson explained as follows:

W]hen a witness tells you first thing I saw was a quick
movement from something, you know it isn't just sitting
there waiting and accelerating. It is back a little bit and it is
accelerating and it's got some speed when it gets here.

Otherwise, you'd say I see him creeping out because in one
second, literally, this is all the further that car can go
indicating). And in two seconds it might travel five feet
total, in the first two seconds. So that's not quick. What
Wuthrich] describes is seeing the front bumper of a car
coming out quickly in front of him. What that indicates is
that car has to be back — further back — say further back
than this one here and accelerating before the front bumper
comes out.

CP 440 -441.

Ms. Gilland testified that the view to her left ( north) was

obstructed by overgrown blackberry bushes and a utility pole. She

testified that she looked left and saw the blackberry bushes and the utility

pole, but did not see Mr. Wuthrich's motorcycle. CP 423 -425, 428; see

also CP 403 -404, 406; CP 408 ( "I believe that the bushes contributed to

me not seeing the oncoming motorcyclist. "); CP 414 ( "A.... I think there

are things that contributed to me not seeing him. Q. And what would

those be? A. I think ... the overgrown bushes that are on the corner. ").

The sight obstruction created by the wall of blackberries was

described by Detective Leach as follows:

10 Ms. Gilland testified that she accelerated into the intersection in a normal
manner -- not exceptionally fast. CP 405.
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On the northwest corner of the intersection there is

a large brush line that runs from the corner northbound
along the west side of Avondale Rd NE. This brush line
causes somewhat of a site [sic] obstruction from vehicles
stopped eastbound NE 159 St at the stop bar looking north
on Avondale Rd NE.

CP 445.

A photograph taken by the King County Sheriff's office at the

accident scene demonstrates the sight - obstructing wall of overgrown

vegetation at the northwest quadrant:

CP 1243.

Expert testimony confirmed that the sight distance for drivers in

the immediate vicinity of the Avondale Road - 159 Street intersection was

substandard and inadequate for safe driving at the time of the collision.



Transportation engineer Edward M. Stevens stated that "[t]hese sight

obstructions in the northwest quadrant of the intersection created an

inherently dangerous condition at the intersection." CP 1265. Accident

reconstruction expert Paul Olson testified that "clearly the sight line for

drivers pulling up to this intersection was obstructed." CP 439. See also

CP 1501 -1502 (Exhibit 9 to the Deposition of Paul H. Olson at 1).

C. Guy Wuthrich was not at fault.

Accident reconstruction expert Paul Olson reconstructed the

collision. 12 Mr. Olson's reconstruction determined that Mr. Wuthrich was

traveling at least 5 mph below the 40 -mph speed limit when Ms. Gilland

failed to yield the right -of -way to him and the collision occurred. 
13

Even Defendant King County's accident reconstruction expert,

Nathan Rose, concluded that Mr. Wuthrich was traveling at a speed of 26

to 31 mph at the time of the collision. 
14

Mr. Rose further opined that Mr.

Wuthrich's motorcycle was approximately 118 feet back from the point of

11 Exhibit 9 to the Olson Deposition is a letter written by Mr. Olson to Plaintiff's
counsel, Keith Kessler, which was referenced by both counsel and Mr. Olson
during his deposition. The letter sets forth Mr. Olson's opinions and analysis in
this case. See CP 1513 (Olson Dep. at 38 -40).

12 CP 1501 (Exh. 9 to Olson Dep. at 1). Mr. Olson personally inspected the
collision site and reviewed the King County Sheriffs Collision Investigation
including photographs and measurements from the collision scene), the
depositions of Guy Wuthrich and Christa Gilland, and documents produced by
Transportation Engineer Edward Stevens. CP 1501 (Exh. 9 to Olson Dep. at 1).
13 CP 1501 (Exh. 9 to Olson Dep. at 1).
14 CP 548.

J



impact when Ms. Gilland began moving toward the intersection from a

stopped position. 
15

35 miles per hour equals 51 feet per second. 
16

Traveling at 35

mph, Mr. Wuthrich would have traveled 118 feet in 2.3 seconds. 
17

During

Ms. Gilland's first second of acceleration from a stopped position,

however, she would have traveled only a couple of feet (CP 1522, Olson

Dep. at 75), which would not have been enough movement to put a

reasonable driver in Mr. Wuthrich's position on notice that she was going

to violate his right of way as opposed to merely creeping closer to the

intersection to get a better view. The evidence clearly shows that, from

the point Ms. Gilland actually began encroaching on Mr. Wuthrich's lane

of travel — in other words, the point at which Mr. Wuthrich would have

been on notice that she was not going to yield the right of way — Mr.

Wuthrich had insufficient time to avoid a collision. CP 1501.

Mr. Wuthrich's own eyewitness observations are consistent with

the experts' findings:

I know I was doing the — five miles an hour under the

speed limit. The speed limit was 40, and I was doing 35,
which I always do on that road, 35 miles an hour when
there's no traffic.

Q. You had indicated that you had a second or less than a

CP 545.
16

35 mph x 5,280 feet per mile = 184,800 feet, divided by 3,600 seconds per
hour = 51.33 feet per second.
17

118 feet divided by 51 feet per second = 2.3 seconds.
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second when you first noticed the bumper of Ms.
Gilland's vehicle?

A. Yes.

Q. How close was that bumper to your motorcycle
approximately?

A. I don't think it was much further away than about six
feet.

CP 1544, 1549 (Deposition of Guy Wuthrich at 8, 28).

The uncontradicted evidence is that Ms. Gilland suddenly pulled

out directly in front of Mr. Wuthrich. 
18

Mr. Olson's accident

reconstruction analysis substantiates Mr. Wuthrich's testimony that Ms.

Gilland's car appeared suddenly, leaving him no time to stop:

When the car began its acceleration Mr. Wuthrich
was too close and had too little time to be able to avoid this

collision.

CP 1501 (Exh. 9 to Olson Dep. at 2).

There is no evidence that Mr. Wuthrich did anything wrong. He

was lawfully riding his motorcycle on Avondale Road when Ms. Gilland

failed to yield the right -of -way to him and suddenly drove her car directly

into his path of travel. 
19

18 CP 1526 -1527 (Olson Dep. at 92 -93).
19 The primary duty to avoid a collision at an intersection with a stop sign rests
upon the driver who is required to stop at a stop sign -- in this case, Ms. Gilland.
See RCW 46.61.190 (2).
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V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of review

This Court applies a de novo standard of review in reviewing

summary judgment orders, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court,

including taking the facts and any reasonable inferences therefrom in the

light most favorable to the non - moving party. Shellenbarger v. Brigman,

101 Wn. App. 339, 345, 3 P.3d 211 (2000); Scott Galvanizing, Inc. v. NW.

EnviroServices, Inc., 120 Wn.2d 573, 580, 844 P.2d 428 ( 1993).

Summary judgment is proper only when no genuine issue of material fact

exists. CR 56(c); Scott Galvanizing, 120 Wn.2d at 580.

B. In granting the County's motion for summary

judgment, the trial court erroneously relied on language
in Ruff v King County that was overruled by the
Supreme Court in Keller v. City ofSpokane.

In granting the County's motion for summary judgment, the trial

court relied upon language in Ruff v. King County, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887

P.2d 886 (1995), stating that "[a] county has a duty to maintain its

roadways in a reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel by persons

using them in a proper m'anner." See Ruff, 146 Wn.2d at 704 (emphasis

added); VRP 60 (7/27/12). The trial court ruled, based on this language

from Ruff, that the County did not breach its duty because it had a right to

assume that Ms. Gilland would be a "prudent" driver and not pull out into

a lane of travel if she could not see approaching traffic. The trial court

concluded that because Ms. Gilland was negligent, the County could not

also be at fault. The trial court indicated that its reasoning as to both the

12



elements of breach of duty and proximate cause was based on its

conclusion that Ms. Gilland was negligent:

Ruff tells us that there's a duty to maintain a roadway in a
reasonably safe condition ....

Nor does the duty require the county to anticipate and
protect [against] all imaginable acts of negligent drivers; for to do
so would make the county [an insurer] against all such acts.

Negligence depends on whether the roadway was

inherently dangerous or deceptive to a prudent driver.

And that bothered me here quite a bit. And the reason it
bothers me is because a prudent driver simply does not get in the
lane of travel when another vehicle is approaching at 35 miles an
hour. You just don't do it.

Y]ou just simply don't go into the lane of traffic where
you can't see to travel. Aprudent driver would not do that.

I don't think that's a question for the jury. Consequently,
summary judgment is granted.

VRP at 60 -61 (7/27/12) (emphasis added).

That circulates back into what we talked about; that a
reasonabl[y] prudent driver is required in the first place, the
county is entitled to rely upon that before they're liable.

I don't know if that's a causation issue. And the way I used
it earlier, it seems to me they're tied together.

VRP at 65 (7/21/12) (emphasis added).

Consequently, I can't imagine — I have seen no facts that

dispute in this particular situation she was not reasonably prudent,
and consequently, the county does not have liability.

13



That really is a circular argument when it comes to
causation, because once again, if they're entitled to presume that
the driver is to be reasonably prudent, I think that goes to
causation. It's a circular kind of an argument. It's more than — as

I see it, they're entitled to rely upon that, and that eliminates that
causation issue in this case because she wasn't reasonably
prudent.

VRP at 67 -68 (7/27/12) (emphasis added).

The legal basis for the trial court's ruling was rejected by the

Washington Supreme Court in Keller v. City ofSpokane, 146 Wn.2d 237,

44 P.3d 845 ( 2002), which held that the characterization of a

governmental entity's duty with regard to providing reasonably safe roads

as stated in Ruff was an incorrect statement of the law because it could

wrongly be interpreted as "limit[ing] the scope of a municipality's duty to

only those using the roads and highways in a non - negligent manner." Id.

at 249. Instead, under the correct legal standard in highway safety cases,

a municipality owes a duty to all persons, whether negligent or fault -

free, to build and maintain its roadways in a condition that is reasonably

safe for ordinary travel." Ibid. (emphasis added). Contrary to the trial

court's approach in this case, Keller requires that the fault of a

govermmental entity be analyzed independent of and without regard to the

fault of other persons who may have been involved in a collision.

There was a time when a municipality's defense of a third party's

extreme negligence was allowed by the courts in roadway safety cases like

this. The classic examples are Klein v. City ofSeattle, 41 Wn. App. 636,

705 P.2d 806 (1985) and Braegelman v. County of Snohomish, 53 Wn.
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App. 381, 766 P.2d 1137 (1989). In Klein, a driver traveling between 49

and 63 mph in a 30 -mph zone lost control and crossed the center line of a

bridge, causing a collision with the plaintiff's vehicle. The Court of

Appeals affirmed summary judgment in favor of the city based on

reasoning similar to the trial court's reasoning in this case:

The City was under no duty to protect [the plaintiff] from
the extreme carelessness of [the driver who crossed the center
line]. As a matter of public policy, the City cannot be expected to
guard against this degree of negligent driving.

Klein, 41 Wn. App. at 639.

Likewise, in Braegelman, an intoxicated driver crested a hill in the

wrong lane, driving 40 mph in a 25 -mph zone, and collided head -on with

an oncoming car. Although the plaintiff presented expert testimony that

the speed limit was too high for the sight distance limitations at the

location, the Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment in favor of the

county on the basis of Klein, reasoning that any negligence on the part of

the county in failing to design and maintain the road in a reasonably safe

condition was not a legal cause of the collision because of the defendant

driver's "extreme conduct." Braegelman, 53 Wn. App. at 385 -386.

Klein and Braegelman were overruled by the Supreme Court in

Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002), as the

Court of Appeals recognized in Unger v. Cauchon, 118 Wn. App. 165, 73

P.3d 1005 (2003). Unger involved a driver (Unger) who was being chased

by two other drivers (the Cauchon family). The chase involved high rates

15

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