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

This is the first statement Officer Gilland made speculating that the

blackberry bushes or power pole might have obstructed her view: 

4. Considering that I know I stopped and looked both ways I am
baffled by why I did not see Mr. Wuthrich. On June 20, 2008. I
contemplated the intersection and noted the large growth of blackbeny
bushes at the northwest corner of the intersection. This is the growth

of bushes that I was looking through to observe southbound traffic on
Avondale Rd. There is also a large telephone pole at the edge of

the road (NW corner). I am not an expert, but I can only think
that at the moment I was looking to the north ( left) on Avondale
Rd while stopped my vision was obstructed by these bushes or
telephone pole, and I did not see Mr. Wuthrich approaching on
his motorcycle. In addition, I do not believe there are any direct
witnesses to this accident. This may show that there were not
any other vehicles in the immediate area corning from either
direction that I could see. Again, I did not see Mr. Wuthrich at all

until he was right in front of me. 

CP 277 -78 ( emphasis added). 

Officer Gilland was asked at her deposition about this new

speculative theory that the bushes and pole might have played a role. She

confirmed that she was only " speculating" and " guessing" that the bushes or

pole might have obstructed her view of plaintiff on June 20, 2008. CP 261- 

16



62. Plaintiff' s brief fails to disclose or address any of the following

testimony: 

Q: And when you use the words I only -- " I can only think," you're

speculating that they [ bushes and pole] caused an obstruction ?... 
A: Yes. 

CP 261. 

A: It's the only reason I can come up with. Because I stopped and I
looked and I used caution and I did not see him. 

Q: Okay. But you are speculation that they [bushes and pole] are the
reason why you did not see him, correct? ... 
A: If you would like to use the word speculate. 

Q: No. I'm asking you, are you speculating that they are the reason
why you did not see him? 
A: Yes.... 

Q: And those are your words? 
A: My words were, " I can only guess. "... 
Q: And do you stand by that statement today, that it's a guess? 
A: Yes. 

CP 262. 

D. PLAINTIFF' S EXPERTS HAVE NOT PROVIDED ANY

OPINIONS THAT THE BUSHES OR POLE OBSTRUCTED

OFFICER GILLAND' S SIGHTLINE OR THAT THE

INTERSECTION WAS INHERENTLY DANGEROUS TO

OFFICER GILLAND. 

Plaintiff' s brief fails to disclose that his own accident

reconstructionist, Mr. Olson, admits that he cannot provide an opinion that

the bushes or pole actually played any role in this accident. CP 998. He

does not know where Officer Gilland stopped. CP 994. He has no opinion

where plaintiff was on the road when she looked left. CP 992. He has no

opinion where plaintiff was on the road when she initiated her tuna. CP
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1000. And he has no opinion whether the bushes or pole actually obstructed

Officer Gilland's view of plaintiff to any degree at all during these critical

moments. CP 1000. 

Mr. Olson testified as follows: 

A:... - -the driver of the Honda may have been able to see him, may
not have been able to see him depending on where she parked her
car and where her position is looking from. 

CP 985. 

Q: So in order to answer my question of when was her car available
to have been seen [ by Mr. Wuthrich], you would only be able to
speculate in order to answer that because you do not know where

Ms. Gilland stopped her vehicle? ... 

A: That is pretty much the answer. 
Q: Is that correct? ... 
A: Yes. 

CP 992. 

Q: So you don' t know where Ms. Gilland stopped, correct? 

A: Correct. 

CP 994. 

Q: So you do not know whether there was an obstruction for Ms. 

Gilland that day when she stopped her vehicle on 159th ?... 
A: That is correct. 

CP 998. 

Q: Now, can you say on a more probable than not basis that Mr. 
Wuthrich was there to have been seen by Ms. Gilland when she
stopped at 159th and looked left? Yes or no? ... 

A: Not unless you tell me where she was stopped. 

CP 1000. 

Q: Can you say on a more probable than not basis that Mr. 
Wuthrich was on Avondale available to have been seen without

any obstructions from the pole or bush by Ms. Gilland when she
initiated her turn? 
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A: Can I say that? 
Q: Can you say that on a more probable than not basis? ... 
A: That he is visible, and the pole and the buses didn't affect her

vision when she started accelerate? Is that the question? 

Q: Yes.... 

A: I cannot answer that. 

Id. 

Mr. Olson went on to explain the " flaw in the logic" of completing

an accident reconstruction in this case. CP 1006 -07. He explained that he

could not complete a reconstruction because he is missing the critical piece

of evidence of where Officer Gilland stopped: 

A: ... But here' s the danger with this. We could put up any
hypothetical and calculate answers for it and have it mesh because

we're using the same time. So we can have them move back and
they'll always come back together again. 
Q: Right. That's the flaw in this logic? 
A: It is the flaw in this logic. 

Q: And that' s why we can't really say for certainty what happened
in this accident because we don't know the critical piece of

evidence of where she stopped? ... 

Q: Correct? 

A: Correct.... 

CP 1006 -07. 

Plaintiffs brief also fails to disclose that his road design expert, 

Mr. Stevens, evaluated the intersection without considering any details of

what occurred in the accident.
8

In fact, plaintiffs counsel confirmed that Mr. 

s Mr. Stevens admits he did not consider plaintiffs driving speed, what he did moments
before the accident, whether he had methadone in his system at the time of the accident, 

vision issues of either driver, both drivers' familiarity with the intersection, what Officer
Gilland was doing before she stopped, where she stopped at the intersection, whether or not
her sightline was obstructed, her movements looking for traffic, how long she had to wait
before initiating her turn, or how quickly she pulled from the intersection. CP 299 -300. 

19



Stevens was " not relying on anything [ Officer Gilland] had to say in his

analysis." CP 306. This was confirmed by Mr. Stevens: 

Q: And does where she stopped have any relevance as to your
opinions of the intersection? 

A: No. 

CP 299. While Mr. Stevens' untimely declaration asserts that the

intersection had " an inherently dangerous condition" for all motorists, he has

never claimed that the supposed condition caused this accident or affected

Officer Gilland's driving in any manner.
9

CP 1265, 1331- 1335. More

specifically, Mr. Stevens has never provided an opinion that Officer

Gilland's view of plaintiff was obstructed on June 20, 2008. 

Q: And so you have no testimony whether the pole or the bushes
actually obstructed Ms. Gilland's view of Mr. Wuthrich at the
moment she started her turn? ... 

A: That is correct. 

CP 305. He, therefore, has not provided an opinion that the intersection

was inherently dangerous to Officer Gilland on June 20, 2008. 

E. EVEN USING PLAINTIFF' S SPECULATIVE EVIDENCE, 

PLAINTIFF WAS CLEARLY AVAILABLE TO BE SEEN IF

ONLY OFFICER GILLAND HAD LOOKED. 

While Officer Gilland knows that she stopped somewhere at the

intersection, she can only speculate where she stopped. CP 251 and 256. 

She did, however, guess that she might have stopped directly over the stop

9 Mr. Stevens' unsupported opinion that the intersection was inherently dangerous to all
motorists is directly refuted by the lack of accident history. 
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bar. CP 256 and 267. If this is accurate, it places her line of sight

approximately 15 feet behind the edge of the traveled way (i. e., the

extended fog line). Id. 

Officer Gilland testified that, prior to entering the intersection, she

looked left and then right. CP 250. She had to wait for some cars to pass

going right to left. Id. She was uncertain how many cars she had to wait for, 

but it was at least one and maybe more. CP 250 and 252. She guesses that

she waited " three to five seconds" for traffic to clear. Id. She does not

believe she looked left again before initiating her left turn. CP 252. She had

just started her turn and the plaintiff was in front of her. CP 250. 

Plaintiff fails to disclose Mr. Olson's response when he was asked to

assume Officer Gilland's " guestimated" stop location and plaintiffs

testimony regarding his speed down Avondale. Under that hypothetical

scenario, Mr. Olson testified that plaintiff was 117 feet away and would have

been clearly visible, without any obstruction from the pole or bushes, when

Officer Gilland initiated her turn without looking left again to check for

oncoming traffic. 
10

CP 290 -91. The picture below accurately depicts Mr. 

Olson's opinion regarding this hypothetical. CP 222 -34. 

10 This opinion was given within the confines of a hypothetical, because Mr. Olson was

clear that there was a " flaw in the logic" in completing this type of analysis because he
could only speculate where Officer Gilland actually stopped. CP 287 -88. 
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Mr. Olson provided no other hypothetical estimates of where

plaintiff was on Avondale using Officer Gilland's " guestimated" stopping

location. Therefore, Mr. Olson provided no evidence that the bushes or pole

obstructed Officer Gilland' s view ofplaintiff when she looked left, using the

assumption that she stopped on top of the stop bar. 

Mr. Stevens also provided no opinions on what Officer Gilland's

sightline would have been if it was assumed that she stopped on top of the

stop bar: 

Q: What evidence do you have that Ms. Gilland's sightline was

obstructed based on her deposition testimony that her best
estimated stop was on top of the stop bar? 
A: I didn't even go there. I didn' t try to do any reconstruction of
this thing. 

CP 305. 

Finally, neither expert provided any evidence or opinion, even within

the confines of a hypothetical, that Officer Gilland would have been able to
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see plaintiff if she had stopped behind the stop bar and Mr. Stevens' 

proposed sightline had been in place on June 20, 2008. 

F. MR. OLSON AND OFFICER GILLAND AGREE THAT

THERE ARE TWO OTHER PLAUSIBLE CAUSES FOR THIS

ACCIDENT: HUMAN ERROR AND OFFICER GILLAND' S

FAILURE TO LOOK LEFT A SECOND TIME AS SHE

SHOULD HAVE. 

Officer Gilland and Mr. Olson agree there are two other possible

causes for the accident that had nothing to do with King County: 

1) Officer Gilland's human error of failing to detect plaintiff on the roadway

because he was riding a motorcycle; and (2) Officer Gilland's failure to look

left again before pulling into the intersection. CP 265 and 285. 

Regarding human error, Mr. Olson testified that a "predominating

cause" for accidents between motorcyclists and other vehicles is a motorist' s

failure to detect the motorcycle on the roadway. CP 286 -87. He testified

that motorcycles " blend in with the background for whatever reason." Id. 

He testified that " there are all kinds ofpublications" in the literature that talk

about the conspicuity of motorcycles and that many states have therefore

passed laws ( such as requiring motorcycles to have their headlights on) to

make motorcycles more visible. CP 284. Therefore, Mr. Olson did not rule

out that the cause of the accident was Officer Gilland' s simple failure to see

plaintiff, even though he was fully visible: 
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Q: We talked briefly about the literature, and there' s a lot out
there, about motorists failing to see motorcycles. Have you ruled
out that the cause of this accident was Ms. Gilland's simple

human failure to see the motorcycle regardless of any
obstructions? 

A: No, I have not ruled that out. 

CP 285. 

Officer Gilland agrees that her human error in failing to see plaintiffs

motorcycle on the roadway may have caused of this accident. CP 265. 

Regarding Officer Gilland' s admitted failure to look to the left again

before initiating her turn, Mr. Olson testified that she " should have" done so

prior to entering the intersection. CP 285. He testified that " looking Left to

right is perfectly proper, but then you need to look back to the left because

the first danger coming to you will be from your left." Id. Mr. Olson

conceded that, based on Officer Gilland's " guestimated" stop location, 

plaintiff would have been clearly visible (according to the diagrams), without

any obstruction from the pole or bushes, when Officer Gilland initiated her

turn without looking left a second time to check for oncoming traffic. CP

290 -91. Mr. Olson, therefore, did not rule out that Officer Gilland' s failure

to look left again prior to entering the intersection caused the accident: 

Q: Now, because she didn't look left again, how did that, if at all, 
did it contribute to this accident? ... 

A: That would have been her last chance to see that motorcycle

with the exception of seeing it directly in front of her, she
accelerated. 
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Q: And do you know if Mr. Wuthrich, based on all of the speed
calculations ofhis vehicle was there to have been seen without

any obstructions if she had looked left before initiating her turn? 
A: It depends on where she's at when she starts. 

CP 285. 

Officer Gilland agrees that her failure to look left again prior to

initiating her start was the cause of this accident. CP 265. 

IV. ARGUMENT

In this case, King County met its legal duty of providing a

reasonably safe roadway for ordinary travel, and plaintiff has produced

insufficient evidence to show that King County was a proximate cause of

the accident. Therefore, this court should affirm the trial court' s order

granting King County' s motion for summary judgment. 

A. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE TRIAL COURT

BECAUSE KING COUNTY MET ITS DUTY OF CARE BY

PROVIDING A REASONABLY SAFE ROADWAY FOR

ORDINARY TRAVEL. 

Municipalities have a duty to build and maintain roadways that are

reasonably safe for ordinary travel. This includes a duty to eliminate

inherently dangerous or misleading conditions. Owen v. Burlington

Northern and Santa Fe Railroad Company, 153 Wn.2d 780, 786 -88, 108

P. 3d 1220 ( 2005) ( overruled on other grounds). While municipalities owe

this duty to both negligent and fault -free travelers, they are not required to

anticipate and protect against all imaginable acts of negligent drivers." 
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Keller v. City ofSpokane, 146 Wn.2d at 249; Rzffv. King Co., 125 Wn.2d

697, 705, 887 P. 2d 886 ( 1995) ( citations omitted). The law is clear: 

there is no duty to make a safe road safer." Ruff 125 Wn.2d at 707. 

In order to defeat summary judgment, plaintiff had the burden of

showing that King County ( 1) failed to follow a binding statute, ordinance, 

or regulation concerning the design or maintenance of the road; ( 2) failed

to correct a physical defect in the road; " or ( 3) failed to keep the road

reasonably safe for ordinary travel" based on the totality of the

surrounding circumstances. See e.g. Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112

Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P. 2d 182 ( 1989); Chen v. City ofSeattle, 153 Wn. 

App. 890, 223 P. 3d 1230 ( 2008). Plaintiff has not met his burden on any

of these elements. 

1. King County followed all binding statutes, ordinances, 
and regulations regarding the design and maintenance
of this intersection. 

Whether a municipality owes a duty in a particular situation is a

question of law." Keller, 146 Wn.2d at 243 ( citations omitted). The scope

of a municipality' s duty is limited by the question of to whom the duty is

owed, and the nature of the duty. Id. (citations omitted). Therefore, 

before evaluating if King County may have breached its duty of care, the

court should determine, as an issue of law, the standard of care required of

Plaintiff has never claimed there was a physical defect in the roadway. 
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King County in designing and maintaining the intersection. Chen, 153

Wn. App. at 908; Ruff, 125 Wn.2d at 705. After determining the standard

of care, the court should then decide whether there are any disputed issues

of material fact with respect to whether King County failed to meet that

standard. 

Ruffclearly defines the standard of care. Ruff 125 Wn.2d at 705. 

If a municipality has road design standard, those standards set the standard

of care required in designing and maintaining the intersection. Id. Here, 

RCW 36.86. 080 requires King County to adopt uniform road design

standards for all new road construction. King County complied with this

statute when the King County Council enacted an ordinance adopting the

1993 King County Road Standards. CP 177 -191. 

The King County Road Design Standards required an entering

sightline of 685 feet of visibility, measured 10 feet back from the edge of

the traveled way, regardless of the placement of a stop bar. Id. The

county exceeded this requirement by providing over 730 feet of

unobstructed visibility, measured 10 feet back from the edge of the

traveled way. Id. As shown on page two, this sightline is completely

unobstructed by the power pole and bushes. CP 222 -34. This exact

sightline was provide to Officer Gilland on June 20, 2008. 
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2. The intersection was also reasonably safe for ordinary
travel based on the totality of the surrounding
circumstances. 

Where, as here, the plaintiff cannot show that a municipality failed

to follow binding design requirements; the plaintiff may attempt to show

that the roadway was inherently unsafe for ordinary travel under the

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